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Dedication
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Fig. L.
Detail of 6-inch map showing Wicklow town (surveyed in 1838, engraved in 1839)
(reproduced by permission of the Government of Ireland, Licence Mo. NP 000201}



INTRODUCTION

The Wicklow Ordnance Survey letters were written between December 13t 1838 and April 14th
1840. The letters report on antiquities and the origins of selected placenames of the county. They
were compiled as part of fieldwork carried-out in conjunction with the first detailed mapping of
Ireland by the Ordnance Survey.

IRELAND HAS A CELEBRATED HISTORY OF MAPPING AND SURVEYING!. Before the 16th century
there are few maps of Ireland, and these were typically produced by cartographers from
elsewhere in Europe (particularly Italy2) as part of a wider survey of western Europe. This
tradition continued throughout the 16t century, especially during the Tudor Conquest,
when the maps of Ireland were often designed to show blocks of land ownership. They
were quite schematic, showing only places of major importance with little topographical
detail. During the 17th century such maps became slightly more detailed. These frequently
showed individual counties, their barony and parish divisions, and were important
documents during the Plantations®. The most famous of these were by William Petty,
particularly his Down Survey between 1654-8 and his Hiberniae delineatio published in
1685. Towards the end of the 18th century maps became increasingly detailed, especially
showing landlord estates, towns and counties. These town plans and estate maps were
often privately commissioned. The Huguenot cartographer John Rocque dominated the
development of such maps in the 1750% with his maps of the city and county of Dublin.
There were also military maps, such as those by Charles Vallancey of the south Irish coast,
that were motivated by threats of a French invasion of Ireland. Such military participation
in the cartography of Ireland was a sign of events to come. Indeed, private cartographers
were practically wiped out when state intervention in the late 1820%s ensured that the
future of Irish mapping was co-ordinated and driven by the skills of the British army, in
the form of the Ordnance Survey+.

In 1791 the Ordnance Survey was established, with headquarters at the Tower of
London. The brief of the survey was to produce military maps, particularly of coastal areas
of England and Scotland. In 1824 the Ordnance Survey was given the enormous task of
carrying-out a detailed cartographic survey of Ireland. Major Thomas Colby was
appointed to direct the Ordnance Survey of Ireland, and in 1827 he received a deputy to
represent him in the Ordnance Survey headquarters at the Phoenix Park in Dublin,
Lieutenant Thomas Larcom of the Royal Engineers. Colby’s and Larcom’s instructions were

1. JH Andrews, 1997, Shapes of treland — maps and their makers 1564-1839. Geography Publications, Dublin.

2.T). Westropp, 1913, Early lalian maps of Ireland from 1300 10 1600 Praceedings of the Royal Irish Academy 30(1912-
13}, 361-428

3 J.H. Andrews, 1985, Plantation Acres. An historical study of the Irish land surveyors Ulster Historical Foundation

4. ] H. Andrews, 1975, A paper landscape: the Ordnance Survey in nincteenth-century treland. The Clarendon Press, Oxford
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Fig. 2
Detail of 6-inch map showing Powerscourt and Tinnehinch (surveyed in 1838, engraved in
1839)
(Reproduced by permission of the Government of Ireland, Licence No. NP 000201)

to map Ireland on a map scale of six inches to one mile. In order 1o achieve this it was
necessary (o begin by calculating the positions of a framework of points upon which the
mapping could be based. This was done by a process of triangulation, established by
taking sightings to distant mountain tops. The initial baseline [rom which the triangulation
for the entire country developed was surveyed along the shores of Lough Foyle in 1828.
The equipment used might be considered primitive by modern standards, however, the
surveyors realised that the accuracy of this survey was paramount, [or it set the scale for
the entire survey. This triangulation survey, completed in 1832, established a network of
triangles, within which the topographical department filled in the details of topography,
boundaries, antiquities etc. This work was far more gradual, and at the height of the
survey Colby had 1500 employees scattered across the island, mostly sappers and miners
of the Royal Engineers trained in surveying and mathematics. The surveyors liased with
Richard Griffith's boundary department which set about defining all the townlands and
parishes in the country. Griflith was also given the ask of valuing the land in order 1o
establish an equitable 1ax system. The primary role of the maps produced by the Ordnance
Survey was the plotting of the land in order that it could be defined prior to valuation.

By the time the survey was completed in 1846 Ireland had become the first country in
the world 1o be mapped entirely on such a large scale. However, Larcom had a vision of



INTRODUCTION X

achieving a survey even greater, and in his own words he aimed to complete ‘a full face
portrait of Ireland’. He intended to accompany the six-inch maps with a published memoir
on each map area. The memoirs were to include information describing the local geology,
economy and social conditions. The history, topography and antiquities of each area were
noted. In particular, great aitention was given to the correct orthography of place names
on the maps. An important decision was made to attempt to record the correct Gaelic
versions of a given name, and to use standard anglicised phonetic spellings on the final
maps. Without this research, the English rendering of so many names could potentially
have destroyed their Gaelic roots. Larcom himself decided to learn Irish, and was tutored
by John O'Donovan, a young scholar from Kilkenny.

John O'Donovan was born on a small farm in Atateemore, Co. Kilkenny in 1806. In his
youth he was educated at the local hedge school, however, after his father’s death in 1817,
his older brother Michael ensured that John received a formal education. By 1827 he had
a deep knowledge of both Irish and Latin, and in that year worked for James Hardiman
copying Irish manuscripts and extracts from legal documents. This work gave him a wide
knowledge of a range of old Irish manuscripts. In 1830 John O’'Donovan was appointed
by Thomas Larcom to the Placenames and Antiquities Division of the survey, and was
assigned to advise on the appropriate rendering of placenames to be engraved on the
maps. In order to achieve this he had to follow the surveyors into the field and record the
pronunciation of placenames and to show where possible their historical derivation. His
experience on the survey helped him enormously when subsequently translating works,
such as the Annals of the Four Masters, published in seven volumes between 1848 and
1851. In 1851 he was appointed Professor of Celtic Languages at the new Queen’s College,
Belfast?. In 1835 O’'Donovan expressed the motivation for his research during field work
for the Ordnance Survey;

“Though my letters appear as wild as the mountains in which they were written, still do I

feel myself very sober in thought and exceedingly in love with truth even to the prejudice of

all national [eelings”.6

Andrews has previously commented on one of O’'Donovan’s strongest attributes;

“lacking the class-consciousness that inhibited some of the Engineer Officers, and supported
by a Catholic bishop’s testimonial commending his ‘useful, laudable and patriotic pursuit’,
he had no difficulty in drawing information from all levels of society™.”

Eugene Curry (or Eoin O'Curry) was born in 1796 in Co. Clare, and joined the
Ordnance Survey in 1837. In that year he was involved in field work in Co. Dublin,
however, his first sustained field work for the Ordnance Survey was in Co. Wicklow. In
December 1838 he travelled through Rathdown in north Wicklow where he had the
assistance of a man named Anthony Curry (according to George Petrie he was Eugenes
brother8). He was to become the brother-in-law of John O'Donovan - they both married
the Broughton sisters of Killaderry, Co. Clare. After the survey O'Curry became closely involved

5. Patricia Boyne, 1987, john O"'Donovan (1806- 1861} a biography.

6 Donegal O% Leuers, 242

7 Andrews, A paper landscape. 123

8 Stokes, W, 1868, Life and labours in art and archacology of Gearge Petric, 205. London.
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with O’Donovan translating lrish
texts at Trinity College, Dublin. In
1854 he became Professor of Irish
History and Archaeology at
Cardinal Newmans Catholic
University in Dublin. His
publications include Lectures on the
Manuscript Materials of Ancient Irish
History (1861) and On the Manncrs
and Customs of the Ancient lrish
(1873), the latter published eleven
years alter he died.

In Wicklow John O'Donovan
worked closely with a man
named  Thomas  O'Conor.
O'Conor was born near
Carrickmacross®. Here John
O'Donovan met O'Conor during
his work for the Ordnance
Survey in Co. Monaghan in
1835. O’Donovan wrote to -
Larcomn recommending him as Fig. 3
an assistant, Sir Thomas Larcom {by Bernard Mulrenin) from john

“He is about 23 years of age, O’Donovan (1806-1861) a biography by Patricia Boyne, 1987

single, and at liberty 1o do whatever he pleases; and as he is principally engaged in teaching
Latin, Greek and Irish he would be immediately uselul to us. . ..] asked him il he would wish
to get employment in the Ordnance Survey and he said that he would provided he would
receive any salary at all worth his notice (all woulds no shoulds, the Irish idiom)"19.

O'Conor is not a well-known figure, though he played an important role in collecting
inlormation for the Memoirs, particularly in Co. Wicklow, O'Conor appears 1o have long
suffered poor health, but it is clear from the Letters that he was a hard worker. In 1839 he
wrote from Carlow that he could no longer continue field work on account of his poor
health!!. The winter storms he had endured in Wicklow earlier that year may have taken
their toll. His colleague William Wakeman described him as;

‘a man of kindly feeling, and possessed of a very considerable amount of

information on Irish subjects. He died early, however, and without having given

more than a promise of taking a high place amongst those who have made Irish
history and antiquities their peculiar study”.12

George Petrie was a multi-talented scholar, who excelled in art, archaeology, literature,

9. Enri O Muirgheasa. 1937, Thomas 'Connor of the Ordnance Survey. The Irish Bool: Lover, July-December, 81-4
10. Monaghan OS Letters, 102-3

11. Carlow OS Letters, 296

12. Stokes, Life and labours, 98
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music and numismatics!3. He
was _appointed to direct the
Placenames and Amlqumes
Division of tt the survey in 1835. He
directed the works of the dmswn
from his home ‘TeePetrie’ on Noith
Great Charles Street in Dublm
Here a team of scholars copled
manuscript material from various
collections, sending transcripts to
O’Donovan, O'Curry and O'Conor
in the field at their request. These
are quoted throughout the Letters
by the field workers where they
were able to show links between
the placenames and monuments
they visited and their historical
documentation in these
manuscripts. The information
collected by these scribes and field
workers was arranged under the
direction of Petrie at his home. Fig. 4

O'Donovan and O'Curry both John O'Donovan (by Charles Grey)
worked closely with Petrie who
had litle knowledge of the lrsh
language. Petrie used their translations throughout much of his research, including his
publications History and Antiquities of Tara Hill (1837) and The Ecclesiastical Architecture of
Ireland Anterior to the Anglo-Norman Invasion (1845). He realised fully the importance of
the work carried-out by the Placenames and Antiquities Division and was concerned that
the field workers collect as much information as possible. In July 1837 he wrote 1o
C’Donovan;

{Reproduced by kind permission of the National Gallery of Ireland}

“Do not hurry but try to get as much of everything as you can, manners, customs, traditions,
legends, songs etc. The opportunities at present afforded may never occur again,”!#

Petrie was instrumental in bringing in a scientific approach to the study of Irish
archaeology and history, and ultimately the old Irish language also. O'Donovan, O’Curry
and O'Conor very much followed this approach, but this was a time of transition, and
there was much resistance with the old school of speculation. One of those who belonged

to the old school was Sir William Betham, the Ulster King-at-Arms. A war of words was {

fought between Betham and Petrie in the Royal lrish Academy, the main academic
institution where archaeology was represented in lreland at this time. O'Curry was aware
of this heated battle of words, and we are left with litle doubt on which side he fought.

O'Curry mentioned ogham-like markings occurring naturally on a stone near a church at |

13. Swokes, Lafe and labours.

1+, Boyne, fohn O'Donovan, 40
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Ballynerrin, Co. Wicklow, and
his comments were obviously
inlended 1o humour Petrie;

"one of these stones has so many
Ogham lines engraved on it hy
the action of a neighbouring
thorn branch, that it would
aflord a [line field for the
Oghamatical investigations of
those erudite interpreters and
fortunate discoverers of unbomn
languages and seliborn druidical
inscriptions, viz., 5ir W. Betham
and Father Matt Horgan™ 13
Many of the  skeiches
accompanying the Wicklow OS
Letters were made in the field by
O’Donovan, O’Curry and
O'Conor. The quality of these
sketches varies, and commenting
on his own sketches of features
at  Kilmacanogue  church,
O'Curry wrote;
“l have an exceedingly bad eye
and hand for drawing but as
little is expected from me in that

way [ am not particularly
unhappy about the matter”.16

In the section describing the Fig. 5

antiquities of Glendalough there ~ Eoin O'Curry (by Bernard Mu[renin). from John O'Donovan
are several drawings that were (1806-1861) a biography by Patricia Boyne, 1987
provided by William Wakeman who was another prominent member of the team.17. Born
in 1822, only 15 years later he became a pupil in drawing of George Petrie. Through Petrie
he obtained a position as draughtsman in the Topographical Section of the Ordnance
Survey and worked under Petrie and O'Donovan. He was a skilful artist and a capable
antiquarian in his own right. He sometimes went into the field where he sketched many
monuments. He also made copies ol paintings or sketches by his predecessors. The section
on Glendalough has a number of sketches copied [rom originals by ‘the Italian artist’ and
‘a drawing by Col. Burton Conyngham artisis’. These artists are nol named specifically,
but are undoubtedly Gabriel Beranger and Angelo Maria Bigari who visited Glendalough
together in October 1779 on behall of the antiquarian William Burton Conyngham of

15. Wicklow OS5 Letiers, 188
16, Wicklow OS Leuters, 38
17. Obit., Journal of the Royal Socicty of Antiquarics of Ireland 30(1900), 382.



Slane Castle.!8 Those copied from
Gabriel Beranger include the plan
and architectural details of the
Priests House at Glendalough!®.
One of these drawings, that of
the east window of Glendalough
Cathedral, forms the focus of a
critique by O'Donovan of Rev E.
Ledwich’s description of
Glendalough in his 1804
Antiquities of Ireland (20d ed.). In
that  publication  Ledwich
reproduced an engraving of a
drawing by William Beauford of
the same window, showing it well-
preserved. O'Donovan accepted
the earlier drawing of 1780 as a
more accurate record, showing the
window in a dilapidated
condition20, He then harshly
denounces Beauford as “a forger of
inscriptions and architectural
features” and Ledwich as “a bigot
and a literary charlatan”.2]
O'Donovan also quoted several
paragraphs in which Ledwich
explained the origins of several
carved details at the Priests House,
Glendalough. O'Donovan added a

INTRODUCTION Xin

Fig. 6
George Petrie (by Bernard Mulrenin)
(Reproduced by kind petmisston of the National Gallery of Ireland}

most sarcastic footnote; “Ledwich, i.e., Leadwig (Lud-Wig) i.e., Lead-head”.22

The Wicklow Ordnance Survey Letters (about 40 altogether) are written in quill pen
on various grades of paper. They record important information on the placenames and
antiquities throughout Co. Wicklow. In this time before any tourist infrastructure the only
accommodation for travellers was at main centres of population. The letters are all
addressed to T. A. Larcom Esq. RE, and were written from Arklow, Baltinglass, Blessington,
Bray, Carlow, Enniskerry, Glendalough, Newtownmountkennedy, Rathdrum and Wicklow.
lists the letters, and gives a clear indication of the progress made by O’Donovan, O'Curry

1B. Wilde, W, 1872-3, Memoir of Gabrie] Beranger, and his labours in the cause of Irish art, terature, and untiquities
from 1760 10 1780. Journal of the Ruoyal Socicty of Antiquaries of Ircland 12, 443-85. See also Harbison, P. 1997, Some
unpublished Glendalough drawings of 1779. 5wudia Celtica Japonica 9, 51-9

19 Wicklow OS Letters, 468, 498 and 302.
10 Wicklow OS Letters, 458

i1. Wicklow OS Leuters, 436-7

22 Wicklow OS Letters, 497-505
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and O'Conor through the county. We are
given occasional glimpses of their daily
practical problems. From Enniskerry
O'Curry wrote;
“Il it 1s your custom to furnish quills,
paper, pencils and sealing wax, etc., T will
be glad 1o have some sent me to the post
office here".23

It is clear that the fieldworkers had been
ordered to work to a tight deadline, and
they were under enormous pressure to
have completed their field work in
Wicklow by the end of January. They sent
their letters almost daily to Larcom at the
head offices in the Phoenix Park.
ODonovan deliberately noted thai his
letter on New Years Day 1839 was written
at 1 o'clock in the morning2+.

The fieldwork was carried-out by the
tearn during the winter months of
December 1838 and January 1839,
during some of the harshest weather
conditions. O’Donovan described his
journey from Blessington 1o Glendalough
through the Wicklow Mountains with
O'Conor during a snow storm.
O’Donovan decided that they should turn

back and find refuge until the storm
abated.

Fig. 7
William Frederick Wakeman

(Reproduced by kind permission of the Royal Society of Antiquaries
of Ireland}

“The whole side of the mountain looked like a sheet of paper horribly beautiful! But the
wind was now directly in our face. We retumed three and a hall miles and stopped at
Charley Clarkes public house, where we got infernally bad treatment.

The next morning | felt very feverish from having slept in a damp bed in a horribly cold
roorn, but seeing that the snow began to thaw and it being Sunday, | resolved to go on to
the Churches ]Glendalough]. So we set out across the same mountain in which we had been
stopped by the snow. 1 never [elt so tired! Sinking thro’ the hall dissolved masses of snow
and occasionally down to the knees in ruts in the road, which proved exceedingly
treacherous as being covered with the snow. One of my shoes gave way and 1 was afraid that

i should be obliged to walk barefooted."2%

This gives a clear account of the weather conditions and accommodation that they had
to endure. That night they were hit by an even more terrible storm, an event that has been

23 Wicklow OS Leuers, 10
4. Wicklow OS Letters, 109
15 Wicklow OS Letters, 206-7
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Fig. 8
Copy of page 442 of the Wicklow OS Letters, illustrating the hand writing of John O’Donovan

(From his letter on Glendalougs!
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immorialised in folk tradition as the Night of the Big Wind. O'Donovan vividly and

comically describes the scene;
“At one o'clock a most tremendous hurricane commenced which rocked the house beneath
us as if it were a ship! Awfully sublime! But [ was much in dread that the roof would be
blown off the house. [ attempted 1o wake O'Conor by shouting to him, but could not. About
two o'clock the storm became so furious that [ jumped up determined to make my way out,
but 1 was no sooner out of bed than the window was smashed in upon the floor and after it
a squall mighty as a thunderboli! [ then, learing that the roof would be blown off at once,
pushed out the shutter and closed it as soon as the direct squall had passed off and placed
mysell diagonally against it to prevent the next squall from getting at the roof inside, but the
next blast shot me completely out of my position and forced in the shutter! This awoke
O'Conor who was kept asleep as il by a halcyon charm! | closed the shutter again despite of
the wind, and kept it closed for an hour when [ was as cold as ice (being naked all the time!),
O’Conor went to alarm the people of the house, but he could find none of them, they being
away securing (saving) their cattle in the outhouses which were much wrecked by the
hurricane. The man of the house at last came up and secured the window by fixing a heavy
form against it. | then dressed mysell and sat at the kitchen fire till morning. Pity I have not
paper to tell the rest."26

There are very obvious differences in the quality of some of the descriptions by the field
workers. O’Curry was generally quite good at describing in greater detail many of the
archaeological sites he saw. O’Donovan concentrated on placenames and his descriptions
of archaeological sites are often more briel. The reasons [or this are clearly stated;

“l hate to describe places with which no historical associations are connected”.27

Unfortunately, there are also several errors in the Wicklow OS Letters. O'Curry
mistakenly argues that Delgany is the location of ‘Deilginis’ mentioned in several annals.
Furthermore, O'Curry condemns Dr Lanigan’ identification of Delgany with ‘Dergne’
mentioned in the annals, and opis instead for Killderig as the location of Dergne. Today
we know that ‘Deilginis’ of the annals is Dalkey Island, and that Dr Lanigan was correct in
his original linking ol Delgany with ‘Dergne’. Thomas O’Conor also mistakenly identifies
his description of a stone circle called the Piper’s Stones with a stone circle by that name
at Athgreany. It is clear from his own description that the information is based on
conversations with local people and not from a site visit. 1t is also clear that the site
described to him is the other stone circle also known as the Pipers Stones nearby at
Broadleas Commons in Co. Kildare, and not the Athgreany site. The problems they
sometimes encountered trying to identify the meaning of a name are well illustrated by
O'Conors discussion of the name Lugnaquilla28.

There are many examples of spontaneous wit by O’'Donovan, O'Curry and O'Conor.
Following his ascent of the Great Sugar Loal in December 1838 O'Curry wrote;

“though anxious | may be for elevation in this world, I hope never again will have occasion
to rise 50 high in it".

26 Wicklow QS Leuers, 207-8
27 Wicklow OS Lewers, 111
28 Wicklow OS Leuers, 175-9
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He concluded;
“he must have a strange palate indeed who first called it Sugar Loal".29

When O’Curry visited Wicklow town he mentions that from reading G.N. Wrights (1827)
Guide to the County of Wicklow he had been expecting a town with a long tradition of
brewing ale. Wright's source appears to have been an 18t century song, allegedly written
by Dean Swift. O'Curry wrote;
“When 1 read this song on my way to this famous fountain of good ale, | drank off whole
tankards of the stull in eager anticipation, but alas! When [ sought for it on my arrival I had
the mortification to find that not a drop of whiskey, ale, beer or porter had been distilled or
brewed here lor several years back”.30

O'Donovan’s leuter describing with great relish the escape of Garrett Byrne in 1798 from
an attempted capture by British soldiers 3! was clearly an attempt to get a jibe at his
superior Thomas Larcom, who after all was an officer in the British Army.

The wider historical context of these Letters is recorded in the description by O'Curry
of a carved head in the kitchen yard at Powerscourt House. He wrote;

“anyone who knows Daniel O'Connell well, will immediately think of him on looking at it”.32

This is rather an appropriate comment, though O'Curry may not have realised it. It has
been suggested that the extensive work carried-out by the Ordnance Survey on lrish
placenames and antiquities was sanctioned by a Whig government that depended on
Daniel O’Connell for its survival in power. It may be no coincidence that the coming to
power ol the Tory government some years later under Peel saw the demise of the [lield
work carried-out by the Placenames and Antiquities Division of the Ordnance Survey33,

It is well known that O’Donovan, O’Curry and O’Conor were great lrish scholars with
a certain degree of nationalistic sympathies. They certainly had a tremendous respect for
and interest in some of the finest details of native lrish culture. However, they were not so
sympathetic towards some of the religious customs of the Irish peasants. While their
apparent sarcasm may simply be tongue-in-cheek, it appears that they may have been
influenced by the more conservative view of the Catholic church that looked down on
these apparently unsophisticated and almost pagan customs. This is reflected in a
comment by O'Curry on the tradition of tying rags to a bush beside St Kevins Well at
Glasnamullen;

“the briars over it decorated with rags of various hues and ages, the votive offerings of those

afflicted with bodily pains and sores, for removal of which certain devotions and libations

at this well are a certain specific. Alas! few ever visited this well with more bodily pains than

1 had when at it, but my faith was too weak and | could not think of imposing on the

sanctified Kevin by lip service, and so I continued to carry my pains sull”.34

29 Wicklow OS Letters, 43-4

30. Wicklow QS Letters, 336

31. Wicklow OS Letters, 144-7

32. Wicklow OS Letters, 33

33. Michael Tierney, 1962, Eugene O'Curry and the Irish tradition Studies 51, 449-62
34. Wicklow OS Letters, 202-3
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The OS Leuters exist for twenty-nine
counties, as field work was not carried-out
in counties Antrim, Tyrone or Cork. In
1840 a decision was taken by the Master
of Ordnance that the Memoirs were not an
officially agreed 1ask of the Ordnance
Survey of lreland, and the antiquities
division were effectively ordered not to
coliect new information. Unforunately,
the Memoirs were never published, except
lor the parish of Templemore, Co. Derry
in 1837. Instead, what survive today are
the Letters from the field workers to
Thomas Larcom, describing placenames,
antiquities and  their  historical
associations. These were never intended
lor publication, however, in light of the
fact that the Memoirs were never
completed, the Letters themselves provide
the final word on the results of their
research. In 1860 the OS Letters were
deposited in the Royal Irish Academy §
where they are currently held. Fig, 9

In 1883 Tim Healy, Michael Davitt
and Dr Quinn, during their imprison-
ment at Richmond Jail, were given a transcript of the OS Leuters for Co. Mayo. On their
release from prison they, interestingly, secured the backing of Edward Carson for their
publication, but the British Treasury declined their proposals. Eoin McNeill, while
Minister of Education in the Cosgrave government, proposed to have the OS Letters
printed and made available to every senior school child in the Free State. Unlortunately,
he retired in 1925 and his plans were never realised.

Between 1927 and 1928 the OS Letters were transcribed and edited by a team of
lypists, Mary Nelson, Margaret Staunton and Maura Riddick under the supervision of
Patrick Byrne and under the direction of Father Michael O’Flanagan. O'Flanagan had been
a prominent figure in Republican politics after the 1916 Rising. In Oclober 1917 he was
elected vice-president, together with Arthur Griffith, of Sinn Féin. As a result of his
deepening links with Republican circles he was suspended [rom his ministry in the
summer of 1918. At the first Diil in January 1919 he opened the proceedings with a
prayer, and was introduced by Cathal Brugha as “the staunchest priest who ever lived in
Ireland”. He was involved in fund raising in the United States, and opposed the signing of
the Treaty in December 1921. Following the split in Sinn Féin in 1926 after which de
Valera founded Fianna Fail, Father O'Flanagan appears to have taken a break from
politics.3> During this time he returned to his interest in Irish history and language.

Father Michael O'Flanagan (by Estella Solomons)

35. Denis Carroll, 1993, They have fooled you again. Michael O'Flanagan (1876-1942) Priest, Republican, Social Critic. The
Columba Press, Blackrock
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O’Flanagan was elected president of Sinn Féin in 1933, but was expelled from the party three
years later. During the Spanish Civil War he was outspoken in his support of the
Republican cause, despite the pro-Franco stance of the Catholic church in Treland.
O’Flanagan died in 1942, and among those who attended his funeral was Father Costello,
PP Roundwood.

During 1927 and 1928 O'Flanagan undertook the transcribing and editing of the OS
Letters that existed for the 29 counties. A typescript was produced but not published,
though a set of each of the typescripts was circulated to selected libraries and institutions.
In the context of this publication of the Wicklow OS Letters there is an appropriate link
with the county in that the O'Flanagan typescripts were compiled in Bray — throughout
this time he lived in relative poverty at 7 Sydenham Villas on the Putland Road.

It is hoped that by making the Wicklow OS Letters available here in published form
that they will suitably commemorate the turn of the millennium by making them available
to a much wider audience than was previously possible. The very act of preparing these
Letters for publication is an acknowledgement of their importance, and we hope will
provide an adequate tribute to O'Donovan, O’Curry, O'Conor, Petrie, Wakeman and not
least Larcom for their achievement. Despite their obsession with the past, they clearly had
the foresight to ensure that so much information about local customs, placenames and
antiquities should be preserved for posterity. This heralded a new approach in such
studies, and is illustrated in a comment by O'Donovan during his letter on Glendalough;

“No description is worth the attention of the antiquarian unless it is so perfect as that, by its
assistance in case the building were destroyed, a similar one could be erected, but none of
our Irish writers have thought it necessary to give any but vague general accounts of our
ancient edifices. To form an exception to these we have thought it necessary to go 10 the
other extreme by giving the measurements, not only of arches, windows and doorways, but
even of remarkable stones in some ancient doorways which struck us as worthy of most
minute description as specimens of the earliest Christian architecture, and which will
disappear in another century".36

Chris Corlett
Chairman, Wicklow Archaeological Society

John Medlycout
Chairman, Roundwood District Historical & Folklore Society

December 2000

36. Wicklow OS Letters, 471




EDITORIAL NOTES

This publication of the Ordnance Survey Letters for Co. Wicklow is based on the typescript
compiled by Father Michael O'Flanagan in 1928 compared 1o the original manuscripts in the
Royal lrish Academy. This proved an interesting exercise, as it could be shown that
O'Flanagan’s typescript is predominantly true to the original Letters, except for a very small
number of spelling mistakes that have been correcied here. Furthermore, O'Flanagan
standardised the use of numbers throughout the text, opting for the word instead of the
number. In the original letters both versions are used randomly. In this publication the
standardised form of spelling out the numbers used by O'Flanagan has been retained.
O’Flanagan also standardised the use of upper case for the first letter of words such as church,
cross, townland, barony (i.e. Church, Cross, Townland and Barony) etc. In the original
manuscripts these are almost always given in the lower case, and in this publication it was
decided to revert Lo their original form. We have retained O'Flanagan® transcription of
passages of text in Irish script. Apart from retaining a few other minor standardisations made
by O'Flanagan, it has been our intention to remain true to the text in the Letiers.

Quotations in the Letters 1o passages of text from published sources have been indented
and reduced in point size in order that they are differentiated from the primary information
contained in the Letters themselves. Footnotes in the Letters proved erratic and sometimes
problematic, for example running along the bottom of one page and continuing across the
bottom of the subsequent page. In order to make the footnotes user-friendly they have been
highlighted from the main text by being placed in a grey shaded box.

The Index at the beginning of the Letters is part of the original manuscript. The numbers
given in the index refer 1o the page numbers in the original manuscript. These are shown in
the text in bold square brackets.

The illustrations accompanying the 1ext are copies of the originals made for O'Flanagans
Lypescript. A selection of the original drawings and sketches are also reproduced here together
with O'Flanagan’ copies as a comparison. As can be seen, O'Flanagan’ copies are faithful to
the originals, and only differ in the style of the hand-written annotations and captions. The
scale of many of these sketches has been altered for the purposes of reproduction in this
publication.

A number of engravings by George Petrie that were reproduced in T.K. Cromwells (1820)
Excursion’s through Iicland - Province of Leinster have been included in this publication. Also
included here are two large water colour paintings by Petrie from a private collection. The
engravings and the watercolours were not included in the original manuscript of the Wicklow
OS Letters, however, it was decided to include them in this publication given the connections
with Petrie and the Wicklow Ordnance Survey Letters, and the fact that they are
contemporary. It is hoped also that they will provide a visual record of the period that will
compliment the written one in the letters.

Accompanying the original Letters in the Royal Irish Academy are a series of 17th and 18th
century maps of Wicklow, including a number by Petty published in 1683. These were useful
to the Ordnance Survey as a source of placename spellings on earlier maps. With the
exception of a wonderful colour copy of a map illustrating the defeat of Henry Harringion at
the Battle of Wicklow in 1599 shown on the back of the dust jacket, these maps have not been
reproduced here as they are generally quite poor copies of original maps available elsewhere.

XX
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The Index at the beginming of the Letters is part of the original manuscript, The numbers refer to
the page numbers in the original manuscript. In the main text these are given in bold square
brackets (eds).

AGHOWLE PaRrisH — 112 to 132. Situation and name — 112. Identified with the Achadh
Abhla and Achadh na Bhall of the ancient Irish writers — 112 to 121. Extracts relative
to same from Leabhar Breac (Felire Aengus) — 113. From Colgan’s AA. SS. - 114 to
116. From Annals of Four Masters — 117. From Lanigan’s Eccles. Hist. - 117 to 119.
From Archdall’s Monast. Hib. — 120. Old church - 121 to 129 (See 100). Ground
plan of do. = 123. Tomb of the Nixons enclosed in west end — ibid. Sketches of
doorway in west gable — 125 and 126. And of windows in east gable — 127 and 128.
St Finden's Cross (with sketches) — 129 to 132. Ancient stone font near it — 132. Hy
Bairrche — 114, 116 and 118. Hy-Kenselaigh (anciently Cro-Saileach) 115, 119 and
120. Darinis — 118. Kille-Caireni — 118 & 119. Mugna — 116.

ARDLEAMHNACHT — 58.

ARKLOW PARISH — 417 to 426. Situation and name — 417. Inbher More and Hy
Eneachluis — Ancient names of Arklow — 280, 281 and 282. Old burial ground in the
town, still called the Abbey. No remains of the building - the walls pulled down
some years ago by a man named Sherwood, who built a store house of the materials
— 417 and 418. Remains of old castle in the town — 418. Notice of the abbey and
castle [rom Archdalls Monast. Hib. 419 to 422. The abbey etc., granted to John
Travers in reign of Henry VIII - 422. Protestant burial ground — 423. Bigrock T.L. -
old burial ground there without any name. Ladys Well (holy) to south of it - 423. St
Ivers well in same T.L. — 423. Bailenabanogue, old burial place [or infanis there —
423. Killahurler — a churchyard and walls of an old church said to exist there — 423,
424 and 425. Kilcarra old graveyard — 424. Knockanree, a field there called the
Raheen Meadow, but not containing a rath — 424. Dane’s Garden, another field in the
same T.L., so called - 424. Kilmurry old graveyard — 424. Ballyrane - old square fort
there containing the site of a building — 424. Island of Arklow - no remains of a
building there — but ruins of a church and burial ground lately discovered and
destroyed, in a sand bank in Ferrybank — 423. (See Ferrybank under Kilbride Parish,
Arklow Barony.)

ATH CLIATH - See Dublin,
BALLINACOR PARISH — 152 10 160. Situation — 152. Name — 152 & 153. Inquisition

defining the extent of Ranelagh, the territory of the Gaval-Ranail (O’Byrnes) - 154 to
160. Gleann Maoil Ughra comprised in the territory - 153.

XXV
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BALLINTEMPLE PARISH — 397 to 398. Situation — Name - Old church, vestiges of its
[oundation and burial ground. Old Protestant church. Bride’s Well (holy). Traces ol a
[ort to south west of the old church.

BALLYKINE PaRISH — 151. Situation — Name — Old church called “the Abbey” in
Behdanagh-Whaley. A few forts in the parish. Tobermurry or Our Lady’s Well in
Ballymoney.

BALLYMORE EUSTACE ParisH — See “Kildare Letters”.
BALLYMORRIS = 29.

BALLYNURE PARISH — 96 1o 99. Situation and name — 96. No old church at Ballynure. A
Protestant church there at present — 96. Cill Mac Dhuach (Kilmacough) graveyard in
Knockarigg — 96. Stone at Mr Walls house in same T.L. inscribed to O'Toole of
Cnockirg — 96, 97 and 98. Tobermacough Well (Tobar Mac Dhuach) in Lowtown —
99. Old castle - ruins of in Grangecon Demesne — 99. Stone with inscription in
Garden of Grangecon House — 99. Wells in the parish - 99.

BALTINGLASS PARISH — 272 to 277. Situation — 272. Name — 272 1o 275. Notice ol it from
Gough’s Camden - 273. Abbey of Baltinglass called by Keating, Mainisteair an
Bhealaigh (Monasterium de Via, the Monastery of the Way or Pass) — 275. Stated by
Archdall 1o have been called the Abbey de Valle Salutis — 275. Diarmit McMurchad
O’Cavnagh, King of Leinster, stated by some to have founded an abbey at Baltinglass,
about 1148 or 1151, [lor Cistertian Monks, where he was interred — 276. Walls of an
old Abbey still seen close to the parish church, which is said to occupy the site of the
chancel of the abbey — ibid. Walls ol a castle at same place - ibid. A cromlech and
other ancient sepulchral monuments stated by Gough to be in the Park ol Baltinglass
~ 277. Saint Patrick’s Well in Boley — 277.

BLESSINGTON PARISH — 353 to 355. Situation — 353. Tobar an Bhric (the Well ol the Trout)
near Blessington Bridge — 353. Scorlock’s burial place (locally called Cill Pheadair —
Cella Sti Petri) — 353. Holy Valley Well - 353. Stone cross in Ballynasmuttan, erected
in memory ol a man named Walsh, who was lost in a snow storm — 353. Three
Castles (Baile na dTrig Caislean) T.L.. One ol the castles remaining there and site of a
second pointed out — 353 and 354. Notice of Baile na dTrig Caislean [rom Annals of
the Four Masters — 355.

BOYSTOWN PARIsH — 314. Situation — name — Old graveyard — No remains ol an old
church. Granabeg (part of Boystown Parish) — 317. Situation ~ Name — No old
church. Teampull Fionain (Templefynan, church of Saint Finan). Old burial ground
in Ballinagee (Baile na Gaoithe) — 317. Carricknagross (Carraic na gCros) — Old
church yard in Granaveeore (Granabheoir) (Granamore?) — 317. Kilbeg (Part of
Boystown Parish) — 312 and 313. Name Tampleboodin (Teampall-Baodain) i.e. the
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church of St Biodan — old graveyard which gives name to a subdivision of Lacken
T.L. — Part of an old wall, which probably belonged to a church still visible there —
313.

Bray PARISH — 61 to 80. Situation — 61. Name — 61 to 64. Dun Brea and Inbher Nucud

mentioned in Dinnseanchas in Book of Lecan — 61 and 62. The Dun and Leacht not
traditionally remembered — 61 to 63. Human Skeletons turned up at a spot where
the Dun possibly stood, at edge of the beach within Bray Head - 64. Raithin a Chluig
(Raheen a Cluig, the Little Rath of the Bell} — ruins ol a small church so called,
immmediately inside Bray Head, believed by some to be as old as time of Saint
Patrick — 64 to 66. Sites ol two smaller buildings near it on east side, with a trench
nearly choked up running north and south between them and the church; and
remains ol a moat on east & north east which apparently enclosed the whole — 66
and 67. Piece of ground enclosed by a trench and mound, to south east of the
church, which was probably a graveyard - 67. Well a quarter of a mile south east of
the church on the brink of the cliff, called by some the Church Well, but by the old
people Patrick’s Well and still resorted to ~ Tradition about it — 67 and 68. Kelly’s
Well to west of the church — 68. Old Court at mouth of the little River of Bray, not
the Raith Inbheir at which, according to Ushers Primordia, and Book of Armagh,
Saint Patrick sojourned - 68 to 71. Old castle of Old Court — 71, 74 and 75. Square
pillar stone near the castle, with figures sculptured upon it - supposed to have been
the pedestal of a cross (with sketch) 75 to 78. The present Protestant church of Bray,
supposed to occupy the site of some ancient ecclesiastical edifice — ancient yew tree
near the wall on south side — 71 & 72. The church mentioned in Monck Mason’s
Hist. Cathed. St. Patrick — 72 and 73. Kilruddary (Little and Great) Ballywaltrim and
Ballymorris, stated in same to have been dismembered from Stagonil Parish and
added to that of Bray — 73 (see 29). Kilrothery alias Kilraly - 27, 28, 29 and 31.
Kilbride (or Killarney) church — site of now called Fairy Hill — Stone in middle of do.
bearing some traces ol a representation of the Crucifixion (sketch) = 73. Kilbride —
formerly called the College — 78. Kilruddery church - the site not known — Great
quantities of human bones found at north side of Earl of Meath’s house — 79. Heads
of stone with some cut arch stones in the gardens supposed to have belonged to a
baronial mansion — 79. Collection of armour etc., and curious flail, in hall of the
mansion — 79 and 80. Two small cairns on west boundary of Kilruddery Deer Park,
on north brow of the little Sugar Loal Hill - 80. Bellenambuddagh, a spot of ground
there called the Giant’s Grave - 80.

BURGAGE PARISH — 315 and 316. Situation — name - Old church remains of = and

graveyard. Old castle in ruins in the latter. Remarkable stone cross and well, locally
called Saint Baothin’s Cross and Well; and in the Field Name Book, called Saint
Mark’s Cross, and blessed well at foot of it.

CALARY PARISH — 197 to 204, Situation and name — 197. Old church — site of — 201 and

202. Saint Kevin’s Well to N.W. of it - visited for the cure of bodily pains etc. — 202.
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Knock Daee (Hill ol David) in Lower Calry said to have had a moat on the top — 198.
Site ol a cairn, and stone circle which surrounded it, about a furlong south of the hill
on the heathy mountain ~ 198. Ath Gabhar (the Goats Ford) the stream running into
the Downes between Calry and Tigh Teampuill so called ~ 198, Bealaghreamon
(Road of Redmond) Commons, known to the oldest inhabitanis of the
neighbourhood as Muileanreamon (Mill of Redmond) Commons — 199, Feartry
River, source ol — 199. Ancient rath on its east bank near the church of Calry —a
remarkable hillock called a moat on its opposite bank — 199. Tradition in connection
with the name ol the river — 199 and 200. Bloodybank on Commons of Bray — why
so called - 200. Glassanmullen (Millstream) T.l.. several ancient Raths there — one ol
extraordinary dimensions — and the mill-bank on which the mill stood — 201.
Ballynastow — remains ol two stone circles there — anecdote in connection with same
- 203. Sraghmore - several ancient raths there — 203. Muilleanaveig (the Whey Mill,
a nickname [or an ineflicient mill) T.L. - site of the old mill shown on the road to
Round Wood - 204. Knockatemple — [oundations of a church in ~ said to have been
one ol the three churches built by the sisters Keene, Kine & Keallagh — Holy water
[ont cut into a rock about 50 yds north east of the N.W. angle - 204. Two raths in
same T.L. — 204. Knockaraheen and Drumbane - Raths in — 204. Ballinahinch and
Tightur — Moats in — 204. Carrickagleo, the Rock of the Conlflict in the latter TL. -
204,

CARNEW PARISH — 101 to 105, Situation — 101. Name — 101 and 102. Original church -
supposed 1o have stood in Kilcavan — Site of an ancient church said to have given
name to the T.L. shown there ~ 101 and 102. Old castle in Town ol Carnew, repaired
in 1815, and now the residence ol Revd Mr Moore — Remark on its age — 102 and
103. Carnew included in the Country of O'Gaoithin or O’Gahan in 10th, 11th and
12th centuries — and in the Territory of the Hacketts after the Anglo-Norman
Invasion — 104. Moat ol Umrygarr (lomaire Gearr) - 104. Sprig of Shillelah — trunk
of an old tree so called in Coolattin, said to be the remnant of the last tree of an
extensive [orest celebrated in ancient times [or its oaks — Westminster Abbey said o
have been rooled with timber procured from it — 104 and 105.

CARRICKNAGROSS — See Boystown Parish.
CASTLEDOE — 24.

CASTLEMACADAM PARISH — 401 to 404. Situation and name — 401, Mentd. in Hist. Cathed.
St. Patrick (W. Monck Mason) — 404, Tetragenal rath in Tigroney — site of a castle
shown in its centre — 401. Another rath in south part of same T.L. — 401. Knockanree
(Hill of the King) — Raths in — 402. Kilmacoo — square [ort in — 402. Old church of
Macoo (Mochua) and burial ground auached, now neglected, in same T.L. — 402 and
403. Broken chair on top of Kilmacoohill, and another in Sraghmore ~ 403. Kilmagig ~
burial ground there containing the foundation of a church — 404. Ancient rath in same
T.L. - 404. Kilcashel - neglected burial ground and foundation ol a church ~ 404.
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CILL FHINE — Teach na Romhan and Domnach Arta — the wooden churches built in
Leinster by Palladius ~ See Donard Parish.

COMADERRY — 174,

CRECRIN PARISH — 110 and 111. Situation — Name — Graveyard and ruins ol a little
chapel.

CREHELP PaRiSH — 338. Situation — Name — No old church.
CRO-SAILEACH — See Hy-Kenselach.

CROSSPATRICK ParisH — 100 and 101. Situation — Name.
CusLaN TERRITORY — 46, 63, 69 and 91.

Darinis - 118.

DELGANY PARISH — 81 to 92. Situation and name — 81. Delginis Island - not in existence
~ Notices of it from Annals of the Four Masters — 81 and 82. Delgany Bank — rocks
in the sea so called — 83. An old town called Delgany said to have (ormerly existed —
tradition about same — 83. Old graveyard and remains of a church in the present
town — the church used for Protestant worship until about 1789, when the new
church was erected — 84. Killencarrig - no recollection of any church or burial place
having been there — 84. Killencarrig Castle — the ruin of an old house so called - 85.
Templecarrig — site of a church and burial ground there called the Church Bank — 85.
The Raheen field in same T.L. containing an uncultivated spot called the Raheen,
which resembles the site of an old church — 86. Ancient Rath in Upper Templecarrig
and the Cross Bush (a thorn bush so called from a cross having formerly stood at the
place) — 86. Templecarrick alias Killenecarrick mentioned in Monck Mason’ Hist.
Cathed. St. Patrick — 29. Kenlistown Castle — remains of — 85. Coolnaskeagh — Rath
in — 87. Ballydonogh — remains of a moat in — 87. Rathdown Castle — remains of —
87, 88 and 92. Was built on North side of a rath ol which portions still remain — 92.
Notice of Rathdown [rom Wright’s guide 1o Co. Wicklow - 88 to 90. And [rom
Annals of the Four Masters — 91. Chapel or Cell of Saint Crispin — 88, 90 and 91. Of
the name Rathdown - 92. Cloone Mhuiris — a subdivision of Windgates — 92. The
“Cairn of Vast Dimensions” mentioned by Brewer (Beauties of lreland} as in
Windgates Village — not in existence, nor traditionally remembered — 92.

DERRYGLOSSARY PARISH — Glendalough — 428 1o 515. St Kevin Patron of Glendalough —
Sketch of his life, abstracted from the Life given in the Codex Kilkenniensis (MS
Marsh’s Library) which (life} was written by a monk of Glendalough in 10th or
beginning ol 11th Century, when the Danes had possession of Dublin - Present
remains etc., in the valley mentioned therein — 432 to 449. The Saints parentage and
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name - 432. B6 Ban — one of his bells so called {rom a white cow which supplied
milk [or nursing him — 434. Origin ol the story ol Saint Kevin and the lady. The
scene ol it erroneously placed at Glendalough by oral tradition and modern writers -
435 1o 437. Account of the Saints [irst coming to that place — Of its name — 438 and
439. Is ordained a Priest by Bishop Lugidius and sent by him 1o Cluain Duach,
where he built a cell etc., — 440. Came thence 1o settle in Glendalough where he
[ounded a great monastery i.e., in the place where the Damhliag & Round Tower or
Cluigtheach now stand — 440. The Monastery ol St Saviour, situate lower down on
the river — an alter erection — 440. St Kevin having left the great monastery built a
little dwelling for himsell in the upper part of the Valley, i.e. on the spot now
occupied by Templenaskellig, on S. margin of the upper lake, where he lived as a
hermit lor 7 years — 441 and 442. The rocky cave (St Kevin’s Bed) over it inhabited
by him at one time during that period — Was warned by an angel of the [alling of the
rock on the cave ~ 443 and 444. A [amous cell alterwards built by his monks in
Disert Coemgin (Desert ol Coemgin, the place now occupied by Templenaskellig,
anciently so called) where, in time of the writer ol the Lile in Codex Kilkenniensis,
there was a famous monastery — 442 and 444. Templenaskellig church called in old
records the Priory de Rupe and the Convent de Deserto — 444. (See “Present remains
described, etc.” below.) A little Oratory of twigs built by St Kevin on northern margin
ol the lake, The Saint discovered there by Bran Dull, King ol the Lagenians, praying
under a tree with many birds perched on his hands & shoulders, etc. — 443. The
story told by Cambrensis about St Kevin & the blackbird, & which was current in
12th century, not mentd. in any of the Lives ol the Saint now preserved, ibid. — St
Kevin, about to leave Glendalough at the expiration ol 7 years, is prevented by St
Munna of Taghmuh, & directed by an angel 10 erect a monastery at the east ol the
greater lake where his resurrection should take place, i.e. where the Relert church
now stands — 445 and 446. The name Refert explained — 446. (See “Present remains
described, etc.” below.) A [amous religious city sprung up in the valley in honour of
the Saint, and called Glenn-da-Locha, the Valley ol the Two Lakes - situated,
according to the author ol the Lile, in the east part of Leinster in territory ol
Fortuatha - 447. (Glendalough situate in Territory ol Hi-Maille, according to the
Speckled Book [Festilogy) -~ 180. The ravens of the district cursed by the Saint
(whence probably the origin of the legend about the lark?) - 447 and 448. Eanyd,
the mountain overhanging the City ol St Kevin anciently so called — and the valley
under it called Gleann Cassain (now Glen Dasan?) — 448. Glendalough anciently
called Gleann Eanaigh according to Peter Connell in his MS. Dictionary — 448. A
student resuscitated by St Kevin in Valley of Cassan, and a cross said to mark the
place - No cross standing in Glendasan at present - The cross which stood many
years ago, opposite the stepping stones on Glendalough River, leading over 1o the
archway near the Cathedral, called the market — 448. Glendasan River — 485. The
Terebintus Regum, said to have stood on the southern mountain, believed to have
been a tree which has long since disappeared — 449. Notice ol St Kevin’s death
preserved in Annals of Tighearnach — 449. Stated by Dr Lanigan (o have died 3rd
June 618 = 264,
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Present remains at Glendalough described and some notices of features which existed
there about 1780 — drawings of which, made at that time by the lalian artists for Col
Burton Conyngham, are now in possession of Geo. Petrie Esq., RIA, etc. - 450 to
515.

. The Daimhliag or Cathedral — 450 to 463. Sketch of doorway in W. gable — 451.
View of the thickness of the wall on S. side of doorway — 454. Sketches of windows
in S. wall — 455. Inside view of the eastern window, from the original by an halian
artist — 458. Sketch of ornaments on moulding of east window, now destroyed — 459.
Doorway leading from the choir into an Erdam off the 5. wall — 461. Remains of
Cathedral from the original by the ltalian artist — 462.

. The Round Tower or Cloigtheach — 464 10 466. Sketch of the doorway — 464, “The
little church where the priests are buried” (the Priests House) now totally destroyed —
467, 468 and 469. View of the front of it, from the original by the Italian artist -
468. (See 502.) Trunk of an old yew tree said 1o have been planted by the hand of St
Kevin himself and which stood some years since near the Cathedral, noticed by
Ledwich — 469. St Kevin’ Cross, in the cemetery, opposite the S. wall of the
Cathedral (with sketch) — 469 and 470.

. St Kevin’s Kitchen, anciently Cro Coemhghin - 471 to 477. Sketch of the doorway —
472. Views of the building by Mr Wakeman — 473 and 474. Ruins of a church
without any name shown to the north of St Kevin’s Kitchen on the map of the valley
by the ltalian artists — Fragments of the walls still remaining - 477. Another nameless
old church shown on same map, opposite the S.W. corner of St Kevin’s Kitchen — No
trace of it now visible ~ 477. Saint Kiarans church shown on same map to E. and by
S. of the latter nameless church, now totally effaced, ibid. = No mention of the
church in any of the Lives of St Kiaran but is probably the one called Cro Chiarain in
Ann. [V. Mast. ad. ann. 1167, ibid — The memory of St Kiaran of Clonmacnoise
anciently held in high veneration at Glendalough, as inferred from a legend in Life of
St Kevin — 477 to 479.

. Our Lady’s church (Tempull Muire) - 480 to 484. Sketch of doorway in W, gable —
481. View of the remains — 482. Supposed to be the church called Cill Iffin in the
Irish Life of St Kevin (MS Trin. Col. Dub.) — 483. Legend given in connection with
that church in same Life — 483 and 484. Example of the use of the word Ceapach, in
do. - ibid. The city wall of Glendalough still partly traceable — 485. A paved street
leading from the market place into Co. Kildare, noticed by Ledwich as being in good
preservation — 485. Ancient gateway, supposed to have been on the city wall, and
which originally had a tower over it, some fragments ol which still remain — 485.
North view of do. — 486. A bridge stated by Ledwich to have stood where the ford
(or stepping stones) now is on the Glendasan River — 487. Site of the market place
and market cross — Notice of same by Ledwich — 487.
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5. The vy church or the church of the Blessed Trinity — 488 10 495. Skeich ol doorway
in W, gable — 489. Do. of choir arch — 490. Of windows in S. wall of choir, and E.
gable — 491 and 492. Of window in N. wall of chamber on which the Round Tower
rested — 493.

6. Priory of St Saviour — 496 to 505. Dr Ledwich’s account of it — 496 and 497. Ground
plan ol the stone rooled chapel or crypt mentd. by him - 498. Drawings of grotesque
ligures on the capitals of the pilastres, [rom the originals by the ltalian artists — 499,
500 and 501. The figures explained by Dr L. - 503.

7. The Reefert church - 506 to 511. Described by Ledwich — 507. The ancient lrish
inscription on a tomb there, now totally effaced — 507 10 509. Sketch of doorway in
W. gable - 511, Remains of ancient crosses in the cemetery - King O'Toole’s Tomb
near the S, wall - ibid. The loal stones preserved in the church [or many years, but
not in it now — 511. Two enclosures like forts near the church, not Danes’ Forts but
probably enclosures [or cattle - 512. Several crosses on N. side ol the River visited by

pilgrims when performing their Turasses or Stations — the forts also visited by them,
ibid.

8. Teampull na Sceilge & St Kevin’s Bed — 512 and 513. Remains ol Teampull-na-Sceilge
(church of the Rock) — called in Latin Prioratus de Rupe, & also Conventus de
Deserto - 512. Ruins of a small cell near it - ibid. St Kevin’s Bed, said to have been
made in the rock by the Saint’s own hand - called Spelunca de Deserto in Kevins Lile
~ And also mentd. in Lile of St Lawrence O'Toole, published by Messingham - 512
and 513. Places in Glendalough mentd. in the Irish Life of St Kevin preserved in MS.
Library, Trin. Col. Dub. - 514. Names of features at Glendalough, not described by
Mr O’'Donovan — 514 and 515. Trace of the old plan of the ruins, etc., made lor
Colonel Burton Conyngham, about the year 1780 — 516 and 517. Loch na Peiste or
the Serpent Loch, mentd. by Ledwich — 456. Mr O’Donovan at Glendalough during
the hurricane of 6th Jany. 1839 - 205 10 208.

DINNRIGH - 337.

DONAGHMORE PARISH — 161 to 180. Situation and Name — 161. Identilied with the
Domnach Senchille in Uibh-Mail mentd, by Mac Firbis - 161 to 163. Old church, no
remains ol = 163. “Ol the double prebend ol Donaghmore etc.” [rom Hist. Cathed.
St. Patrick (W Monck Mason) — 163 1o 169, T.L.s in the Ph. mentd. in Inquisition ol
Hen, VIl etc. - 166 and 167. Donaghmore stated to have lain in the Irish territory,
or on the marches ol the Pale - 168 and 169. Mentd. in Liber. Reg. Visit., — 169.
Kelshanmore, site ol a convent shown there near an old grave yd. now disused —
167. Tobernacarga Well (Tubber-na-Corrige, Tobar na Carraige) in same townland -
ibid. Castleruddery Lower, vestiges of a grave yd. there — ibid. Circle of stones in
same T.L. — 171. Leitrim (Liath Druim) a grave yd. there, near which is a well said to
have been formerly [requented as a holy well — 169. A long stone in same townland,
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said to have marks of the fingers of the giant who threw it [rom the summit of
Lughnaculliagh Mountain — 170. Castlequarter, ruins of a castle & church said to
exist there — 170. Castlesallagh Old castle - ibid. Castlesallagh mentd. as comprised
in this Ph. by W. Monck Mason — 166. Ballintruer, remains of an old castle built by
the Danes said to exist there — 170. Tubber-a-Voster Well in Randalstown - 171. St
Bridgets Well, in Moorstown — ibid. Glen of Hy Maille (Tmail) in middie of the Ph. -
162, 163 and 171. Its boundaries according to local description —* 172. Notice of it
from O'Reillys MSS, RI Academy - ibid. Snugborough Castle in the Glen, mentd. in
do. - 180. Slieve Gadoe — 172 and 173. Seskin, ruins of a castle there — 162 and
163. Gap of Imail (Cavanagh’s Gap, or Wexford Gap? — Ballynabarney Gap in
O'Reilly’s MS) — 172 and 174. Lugnaquilla (Lugnaculliagh) the highest mountain in
Wicklow — 173 and 174. Percy’s Table, a rock on summit of the mountain, why so
called — 164. A cromlech mentd. in Goughs Camden as on top of same mountain —
ibid. Of the name Lugnaquilla — 174 to 179. Comaderry — 176. Cadeen Mountain
(Keadeen, Ceidin) in Kilranelagh Ph — 173. Brusselstown and Spinans Hills in
Donaghmore Ph. — 226.

DONARD PARISH — 319 to 326. Situation and Name — 319. Donard Moat als. Ball Moat,
description of the feature so called, from which the Ph. was named - 319 and 320.,
Donard identified by Archdall (Men. Hib.) with Domnacharda mentd. in AA. SS. —
321. Domnach Arta, one of the four wooden churches built by Bishop Palladius, AD
430, as recorded in Ann. IV. Mast. — 323. His books & the reliques of Peter & Paul
left in Cill Fhine - The four persons he lelt in the churches alter him - ibid. Walls of
a Protestant church at Donard village which was in use before the erection of the
present church — ibid. Vestiges of foundations of a church on Church Mountain,
within which is a holy well with a stone with a cavity standing in it — 324. Notice of
Sliabh Guth or Church Mountain with its monument, from Gough’s Camden - 324
and 325, Kilcooagh Mountain & townlands — 325. Heap of stones on the former —
325. Of the names Sliabh Guth & Kilcooagh - 326. Holy Hill well in Doody’s
Bottoms — ibid. Ecclesia de Donard noticed in Liber. Reg. Visit. - ibid.

Douckt (DJoUCE) MOUNTAIN — Said to be in Powerscourt Ph. and to have a cairn on its
top - 21 and 199.

DRUMKAY PARISH ~ 361 to 364. Situation & Name — 361. Drumkay Glebe, a field so
called in Knockrobbin Townland & Ph. of Rathnew — supposed to have formerly
been in this Ph. — 361. Rath on E. part of Ballyguile, said by some to be situate in
Dunbur, in Kilpoole Ph. — & if so must be the Dunbur, i.e. the Dun on top of the hill
— 362. Raheenmore, remains of a fort there — 362. Tubber na Buadh (Well of the
Victory) Holy Well - tradition in connection with the name — 362 to 364.
Tubberaville (Well of the Tree) at which Patrons were formerly held, now
unfrequented — marked on Pettys Map as Tubberaviller (Well of the Water Cresses)} —
364.







